
 

 

 

 Rutland County Council 
 Catmose, Oakham, Rutland, LE15 6HP 
 Telephone 01572 722577  
 Email: governance@rutland.gov.uk 

        
 

Members of Rutland County Council District Council are hereby summoned to attend 
the TWO HUNDRED AND FORTY FOURTH MEETING OF THE COUNCIL to be 
held in the Council Chamber at Catmose, Oakham on 7 November 2022 
commencing at 7.00 pm. The business to be transacted at the meeting is specified 
in the Agenda set out below. 
 
Prior to the commencement of the meeting, the Chairman will offer the opportunity 
for those present to join him in prayers. 
 
Recording of Council Meetings: Any member of the public may film, audio-record, 
take photographs and use social media to report the proceedings of any meeting that 
is open to the public. A protocol on this facility is available at www.rutland.gov.uk/my-
council/have-your-say/ 
 
Although social distancing requirements have been lifted there is still limited 
available seating for members of the public. If you would like to reserve a seat 
please contact the Governance Team at governance@rutland.gov.uk The meeting 
will also be available for listening live on Zoom using the following link: 
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/81197252987  
 
 
 
 
Mark Andrews 
Chief Executive 

A G E N D A 
  
1) APOLOGIES  

 
 

 
2) CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  

 
 

 
3) ANNOUNCEMENTS FROM THE LEADER, MEMBERS OF THE CABINET 

OR THE HEAD OF PAID SERVICE  
 

 

 
4) DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 In accordance with the Regulations, Members are invited to declare any 

disclosable interests under the Code of Conduct and the nature of those 
interests in respect of items on this Agenda and/or indicate if Section 106 of 
the Local Government Finance Act 1992 applies to them. 

  

Public Document Pack

http://www.rutland.gov.uk/my-council/have-your-say/
http://www.rutland.gov.uk/my-council/have-your-say/
https://us06web.zoom.us/j/81197252987


 

 

5) MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING (Pages 5 - 10) 
 To confirm the Minutes of the 243rd meeting of the Rutland County Council 

District Council held on 5th September 2022. 

  
6) PETITIONS, DEPUTATIONS AND QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE 

PUBLIC  
 To receive any petitions, deputations or questions received from members of 

the public in accordance with the provisions of Procedures Rule 25 and 26. 
The total time allowed for this is 30 minutes.  Petitions, deputations and 
questions will be dealt with in the order in which they are received and any 
which are not considered within the time limit shall receive a written response 
after the meeting. 
  

7) QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL  
 To receive any questions submitted from Members of the Council in 

accordance with the provisions of Procedure Rules 27 and 28. 
  

8) REFERRAL OF COMMITTEE DECISIONS TO THE COUNCIL  
 To determine matters where a decision taken by a Committee has been 

referred to the Council in accordance with the provisions of Procedure Rule 89. 
  

9) CALL-IN OF DECISIONS FROM CABINET MEETINGS DURING THE 
PERIOD FROM 5 SEPTEMBER TO 7 NOVEMBER 2022 (INCLUSIVE)  

 To determine matters where a decision taken by the Cabinet has been referred 
to Council by the call-in procedure of the Scrutiny Committee in accordance 
with the provisions of Procedure Rules 149 and 150. As a result of the decision 
being deemed to be outside the Council’s policy framework by the Monitoring 
Officer or not wholly in accordance with the budget by the Section 151 Officer, 
or otherwise not in accordance with Article 12. 
  

10) REPORT FROM THE CABINET  
 To receive Reports from the Cabinet on recommendations referred to the 

Council for determination. 
  

a) FINANCIAL SUSTAINABILITY STRATEGY (Pages 11 - 30)  
 To receive Report No. 173/2022 from the Portfolio Holder for Finance, 

Governance and Performance, Change and Transformation. 
 

 

 
b) EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC   
 Council is recommended to determine whether the public and press be 

excluded from the meeting in accordance with Section 100(A)(4) of the Local 
Government Act 1972, as amended, and in accordance with the Access to 
Information provisions of Procedure Rule 239, as the following item of 

 



 

 

business is likely to involve the disclosure of exempt information as defined in 
Paragraph 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act. 
  
Paragraph 3: Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the authority holding that information). 
  

c) WASTE AND STREETSCENE SERVICES (INCLUDING WASTE 
COLLECTION AND DISPOSAL) - CONTRACT OPTIONS (Pages 31 - 54) 

 

 To receive Report No. 174/2022 from the Portfolio Holder for Communities, 
Environment and Climate Change.  
 

 

 
11) REPORTS FROM COMMITTEES OF THE COUNCIL  
 1)    To receive reports from Committees on matters which require Council 

approval because the Committee does not have the delegated authority to 
act on the Council’s behalf. 

2)    To receive reports from Council Committees on any other matters and to 
receive questions and answers on any of those reports. 

  
12) REPORTS FROM SCRUTINY  
 To receive reports from the Strategic Overview and Scrutiny Committee on any 

matters and to receive questions and answers on any of those reports. 
  

13) JOINT ARRANGEMENTS AND EXTERNAL ORGANISATIONS  
 To receive reports about and receive questions and answers on the business 

of any joint arrangements or external organisations. 
  

14) NOTICES OF MOTION  
 To consider any Notices of Motion submitted by Members of the Council in 

accordance with Procedure Rule 31 in the order in which they are recorded as 
having been received. 
  

15) APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT PERSON (Pages 55 - 62) 
 To receive Report No. 175/2022 from the Portfolio Holder for Finance, 

Governance and Performance, Change and Transformation. 
  

16) POLITICAL BALANCE AND ALLOCATION OF SEATS TO POLITICAL 
GROUPS (Pages 63 - 70) 

 To receive Report No. 176/2022 from the Monitoring Officer. 
  

17) ANY URGENT BUSINESS  
 To receive items of urgent business which have been previously notified to the 

person presiding. 
 
  



 

 

18) DATE OF NEXT MEETING  
 5 December 2022 

 
---oOo--- 

 
TO: MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL 
 Councillor J Dale – Chairman of the Council 
 Councillor N Begy – Vice-Chairman of the Council 
 
  

Councillor P Ainsley Councillor E Baines 
Councillor D Blanksby Councillor K Bool 
Councillor A Brown Councillor G Brown 
Councillor P Browne Councillor J Burrows 
Councillor W Cross Councillor J Fox 
Councillor S Harvey Councillor O Hemsley 
Councillor S Lambert Councillor A MacCartney 
Councillor M Oxley Councillor R Payne 
Councillor K Payne Councillor R Powell 
Councillor L Stephenson Councillor L Toseland 
Councillor A Walters Councillor G Waller 
Councillor S Webb Councillor D Wilby 
Councillor R Wilson  

 
---oOo--- 

 
THE COUNCIL’S STRATEGIC AIMS 
• A special place 
• Sustainable lives 
• Health and well 
• A county for everyone 
• A modern and effective Council 



Rutland County Council                   
 
Catmose   Oakham   Rutland   LE15 6HP. 
Telephone 01572 722577 Email governance@rutland.gov.uk  

  
 
Minutes of the 243rd MEETING of the COUNCIL held in the Council Chamber, 
Catmose, Oakham, Rutland, LE15 6HP on Monday, 5th September, 2022 at 7.00 pm 

 
 
PRESENT:  Councillor J Dale (Chairman) Councillor N Begy (Vice-Chairman) 
 Councillor P Ainsley Councillor E Baines 
 Councillor D Blanksby Councillor K Bool 
 Councillor A Brown Councillor G Brown 
 Councillor P Browne Councillor J Burrows 
 Councillor J Fox Councillor S Harvey 
 Councillor O Hemsley Councillor S Lambert 
 Councillor A MacCartney Councillor M Oxley 
 Councillor R Payne Councillor K Payne 
 Councillor R Powell Councillor L Stephenson 
 Councillor L Toseland Councillor G Waller 
 Councillor D Wilby  
 
 
OFFICERS 
PRESENT: 

Mark Andrews 
Angela Wakefield  
Tom Delaney 
David Ebbage  

Chief Executive 
Director of Legal and Governance 
Governance Manager 
Governance Officer  

 
ABSENT:  Councillor W Cross 

Councillor S Webb 
Councillor A Walters 
Councillor R Wilson   

 
1 APOLOGIES  

 
Apologies were received from Councillors W Cross, A Walters, S Webb and R Wilson. 
 

2 CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS  
 
The Chairman informed Members of the sad passing of former Councillor Captain 
Vijay Dighe. The Chairman paid tribute to Captain Dighe’s public service having 
served as a fellow Ward Member for Oakham North East from 2003 to 2011, having 
also served as Chairman from 2005 to 2007 in this as well as serving as Mayor of 
Oakham whilst serving on the Town Council.  
 
The Chairman confirmed that he or the Vice Chairman had attended the following civic 
events since that last meeting of Council on 4 July: 
 

• High Sheriff’s Evening Osprey Cruise at Rutland Water  
• Chairman of Leicestershire County Council’s Summer Reception at Beaumanor 

Hall 
• Rocks by Rail Conflict Remembrance Day in Cottesmore 

5

Agenda Item 5

mailto:governance@rutland.gov.uk


 
 
The Chairman also informed Council that he had agreed to a request to cancel the 
October meeting of Council due to a lack of business for consideration and confirmed 
that details of a proposed Local Plan briefing would follow in due course.  
 

3 ANNOUNCEMENTS FROM THE LEADER, MEMBERS OF THE CABINET OR THE 
HEAD OF PAID SERVICE  
 
Councillor L Stephenson, Leader of the Council, announced to Members that the 
Multum awards had recently launched which would issue 8 awards in 4 categories 
based on the Council’s strategic aims set out in the Corporate Strategy, Members 
were encouraged to help in spreading awareness of the awards in order to achieve as 
many nominations as possible.  
 
Councillor D Wilby, Portfolio Holder for Education and Children’s Services, informed 
Members of the successful GCSE and A-Level attainment rates in Rutland’s schools 
with the also county listed in national media as the highest performing county in the 
country for GCSE results at grades 5-9. Councillor Wilby also informed Members that 
Ukrainian and other refugees placed in Rutland schools or further education course 
were settling in well. 
 
Councillor R Powell, Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder for Planning, Highways and 
Transport, announced that the Council had been successful in a join bid for funding for 
installation of electric vehicle charging points which would lead to installation of 30 
charging points in the county with units expected to be operational in 2023. Thanks 
were placed in record for the work of the relevant teams in putting together the bid.  
 

4 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were no declarations of interest. 
 

5 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETINGS  
 
Consideration was given to the minutes of Council from the meetings held on 27 June 
and 4 July 2022.  
 
It was moved by Councillor L Stephenson and seconded that the minutes of the 
meeting held on 27 June be approved. Upon being put to the vote, with 22 votes in 
favour and one abstention, the motion was carried.  
 
It was then moved by Councillor L Stephenson that the minutes of the meeting held on 
4 July be approved and this was seconded. Upon being put to the vote, with 18 votes 
in favour and 5 abstentions, the motion was carried.   
 
RESOLVED  
 

1) That the minutes of the meetings of Council on 27 June and 4 July 2022 be 
APPROVED.  

 
6 PETITIONS, DEPUTATIONS AND QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC  

 
No petitions, deputations or questions from members of the public had been received.  
 

6



 
7 QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL  

 
Councillor P Browne put his question to Councillor R Powell as set out in the agenda 
supplement.  
 
In response Councillor Powell set out that although Councillor Browne was correct in 
his reference to the Supplementary Planning Document and its approach to design 
solutions, the view of officers was that adoption did not provide sufficient weight for the 
guidance to be enforceable through conditions and this could only be undertaken once 
the guidelines were adopted as a policy through the Local Plan or through a change in 
Building Regulations. It was confirmed that developers were nevertheless being 
encouraged through pre-application discussions to implement the guidance and 
further briefing information on the design guide was being prepared for Members of 
the Planning and Licensing Committee.    
 
In his supplementary question Councillor Browne queried the response and 
referenced paragraph 129 of the National Planning Policy Framework which stated a 
supplementary planning document was a method of carrying weight in planning 
decisions and asked the Council considered this in regard to the design guidance. In 
response, Councillor Powell committed to examine the detail of paragraph 129 and 
respond to Councillor Browne after the meeting. 
 

8 REFERRAL OF COMMITTEE DECISIONS TO THE COUNCIL  
 
No referrals were received.  
 

9 CALL-IN OF DECISIONS FROM CABINET MEETINGS DURING THE PERIOD 
FROM 4 JULY TO 5 SEPTEMBER 2022 (INCLUSIVE)  
 
No call-ins were received.  
 

10 REPORT FROM THE CABINET  
 
Report No. 139/2022 was received from the Cabinet setting out recommendations in 
regard to the Council’s Insurance Contract. Councillor K Payne introduced the report 
and set out that the contract would be for all of the Council’s insurance requirements 
and the suggested delegation would enable a contract to be awarded swiftly and prior 
to the expiry of the current contract.  
 
The recommendations of Report No. 139/2022 were moved by Councillor K Payne 
and seconded. Upon being put to the vote, with 23 votes in favour the motion was 
unanimously carried.  
 
RESOLVED  
 
That Council: 
 

1) DELEGATED the award of the Insurance Services contract to the Strategic 
Director for Resources in consultation with the Portfolio Holder with 
responsibility for Finance. 
 

2) DELEGATED the finalisation of the evaluation criteria to the Strategic Director 
of Resources in consultation with the Portfolio Holder with responsibility for 

7



 
Finance, based on the advice of the Insurance Broker to achieve best value, on 
the proviso that price be maintained at a minimum of 50%. 

 
11 REPORTS FROM COMMITTEES OF THE COUNCIL  

 
No reports from committees had been received.  
 

12 REPORTS FROM SCRUTINY  
 
Two reports were received from Scrutiny.  
 

13 SCRUTINY ANNUAL REPORT 2021-2022  
 
Report No. 143/2022 was received setting out the Scrutiny Annual Report for 2021-
2022.  
 
Councillor P Ainsley moved the recommendations of the report and this was 
seconded. Upon being put to the vote, with 23 votes in favour the motion was 
unanimously carried. 
 
RESOLVED  
 

1) That Council NOTED the Scrutiny Annual Report 2021-2022 and APPROVED 
its publication. 

 
14 A GUIDE TO STRATEGIC OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY  

 
Report No. 144/2022 was received and Councillor G Waller introduced the report as 
Chair of the Strategic Overview and Scrutiny Committee, it was set out the guide was 
intended to provide members of the public with information about the Scrutiny function 
and help stakeholders use the Scrutiny process as effectively as possible.  
 
It was requested that the guide be amended to include the Rutland Integrated Delivery 
Group on the list of bodies Scrutiny may examine. It was also requested the guide be 
discussed by the Constitution Commission prior to publication to resolve several areas 
raised by a Member and this was agreed.  
 
The recommendations of the report were moved by Councillor G Waller and 
seconded. Upon being put to the vote, with 22 votes in favour and 1 against the 
motion was carried.  
 
RESOLVED 
 

1) That Council NOTES the Guide to Strategic Overview and Scrutiny and 
APPROVES its publication. 

 
15 JOINT ARRANGEMENTS AND EXTERNAL ORGANISATIONS  

 
Councillor P Ainsley updated Members on several activities undertaken by himself as 
Armed Forces Champion and by the wider team including: 
 

8



 
• A visit was planned to 1 Military Working Dogs Regiment based at North 

Luffenham to understand what practical assistance could be provided to 
serving personnel and their families  

• A visit had taken place at HMP Stocken to meet a veterans group looking to 
produce a poppy display for use at Remembrance  
made by some of veterans housed at the prison.  

• A meeting at the Loughborough Veterans Wellbeing Hub where discussions 
had taken place about satellite hubs in Lutterworth and Oakham. Initial 
meetings would be held at the Whipper Inn and members were encouraged to 
come forward with alternative venues once this was no longer available. 

• A flag-raising ceremony had taken place on 3 September to commemorate 
Merchant Navy Day which had been well-attended by local residents.  

• The inaugural meeting of the Armed Forces Covenant Board had meant in 
anticipation of guidance following on from Armed Forces Covenant legislation 
expected to come into effect in the Autumn.  

 
Councillor K Bool provided an update on the Combined Fire Authority with a number 
of meetings due in the coming weeks, Councillor Bool also thanked Members for their 
attendance at the recent open evening arranged at Oakham Fire Station for Members 
and confirmed he had written to the CFA expressing thanks on behalf of the Council. 
The Chairman also expressed thanks for the event on behalf of the Council.   
 
It was also set out the Fire Station had also hosted an event for Ukrainian refugees 
settled in Rutland and would be hosting a flag-raising ceremony to commemorate 999 
Day to pay tribute to emergency services personnel.  
 
Councillor E Baines updated Members on a recent meeting of the Board of Trustees 
of the Rural Community Council and confirmed that following discussions membership 
of the wider Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland had been agreed to maintain the 
elected membership of representatives from Rutland County Council and 
Leicestershire County Council.  
 
Councillor S Harvey updated Members on her attendance at the inaugural meeting of 
the Integrated Care Partnership, named locally as the Leicester, Leicestershire and 
Rutland Health and Wellbeing Partnership. It was confirmed membership had been 
expanded to include Healthwatch and the Council’s directors for Public Health, 
Children’s Services and Adult Services.  
 
Councillor M Oxley updated Members on his work on the Police and Crime Panel for 
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland including attendance at a demonstration from 
the various services and membership of a working group examining the levels of 
Section 106 monies currently held by the Police Authority. 
 

16 NOTICES OF MOTION  
 
No notices of motion were received.  
 

17 ANY URGENT BUSINESS  
 
There was no urgent business for consideration.  
 
 
 

9



 
18 DATE OF NEXT MEETING  

 
This was noted to be 7 November 2022 with the cancellation of the next meeting. 
 

---oOo--- 
The Chairman declared the meeting closed at 7.38 pm. 

---oOo--- 

10



Report No: 173/2022 
PUBLIC REPORT 

COUNCIL 
7 November 2022 

CABINET RECOMENDATIONS TO COUNCIL 
Report of the Cabinet 

Strategic Aim: All 

Exempt Information No 

Cabinet Member(s) 
Responsible: 

Cllr K Payne, Portfolio Holder for Finance, Governance 
and Performance, Change and Transformation 

Contact Officer(s): Saverio Della Rocca, Strategic 
Director for Resources (s.151 Officer) 

01572 758159 
sdrocca@rutland.gov.uk 

 Angela Wakefield, Director of Legal 
and Governance 

01572 758220 
awakefield@rutland.gov.uk  

Ward Councillors NA 

 

DECISION RECOMMENDATIONS 

That Council; 

1) Approves the recommendation from Cabinet to approve a financial strategy for 
closing the financial gap as detailed in Report No. 158/2022   

 
1 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT  

1.1 To present Cabinet’s recommendation to Council regarding the Financial 
Sustainability Strategy for consideration and details of the subject matter can be 
found in Report No. 158/2022. 

2 BACKGROUND AND MAIN CONSIDERATIONS  

2.1 These are detailed in Report No.158/2022. 

3 CONSULTATION (MANDATORY) 

3.1 The Council is not required to consult on the matter.  

4 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS  

4.1 To not receive the Cabinet’s report to Council. However, Procedure Rule 246.3 of 
the Constitution requires submission of the report. 

4.2 Alternatives to the options are detailed in Report No. 158/2022. 

11

Agenda Item 10a

file:///S:/Meetings%20-%20tfr%20to%20Sharepoint/REPORT%20NUMBERS


5 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS  

5.1 These are detailed in Report No.158/2022. 

6 LEGAL AND GOVERNANCE CONSIDERATIONS  

6.1 These are detailed in Report No.158/2022. 

7 DATA PROTECTION IMPLICATIONS  

7.1 A Data Protection Impact Assessments (DPIA) has not been completed because 
there are no risks/issues to the rights and freedoms of natural persons. 

8 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT  

8.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) has not been completed because there are 
no service, policy or organisational changes being proposed.  

9 COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS  

9.1 There are no community safety implications arising from this report. 

10 HEALTH AND WELLBEING IMPLICATIONS  

10.1 There are no health and wellbeing implications arising from this report. 

11 ORGANISATIONAL IMPLICATIONS  

11.1 There are no organisational implications arising from the report.  

12 CONCLUSION AND SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR THE 
RECOMMENDATIONS  

12.1 Council is recommended to consider the proposals recommended for approval by 
Cabinet. 

13 BACKGROUND PAPERS  

13.1 There are no background papers.  

14 APPENDICES  

14.1 Report No. 158/2022 – Financial Sustainability Strategy  
Appendix A - Ongoing activity 
Appendix B1 – Savings: Illustrative “Affordable Service” Offer 
Appendix B2 – Other Savings Programme 
Appendix C - Principles 

 

A Large Print or Braille Version of this Report is available 
upon request – Contact 01572 722577.  
 

12



Report No: 158/2022  
PUBLIC REPORT 

CABINET 
18 October 2022 

FINANCIAL SUSTAINABILITY STRATEGY 
Report of the Portfolio Holder for Finance, Governance and Performance, Change 

and Transformation  

Strategic Aim: All  

Key Decision: No Forward Plan Reference: FP/300922 

Exempt Information No  

Cabinet Member(s) 
Responsible: 

Cllr K Payne, Portfolio Holder for Finance, 
Governance and Performance, Change and 
Transformation  

Contact Officer(s): Saverio Della Rocca, Director for 
Resources 

01572 758159 
sdellarocca@rutland.gov.uk 
  

 Andrew Merry, Head of Finance 
 

01572 758152 
amerry@rutland.gov.uk 

Ward Councillors N/A 

 
DECISION RECOMMENDATIONS 

That Cabinet: 

a) RECOMMENDS TO COUNCIL to approve a financial strategy for closing 
the financial gap; 

b) NOTES that the Council will aim to balance the budget (without the use of 
reserves for recurring expenditure) by 27/28; 

c) NOTES that the Strategy assumes maximum council tax rises;  

d) NOTES that the Strategy accepts that the Council’s current service offer is 
not affordable and that all services will have to move in the direction of an 
‘affordable service offer’ over time; and  

e) NOTES that the Medium-Term Financial Plan is subject to change as 
more information becomes available. 

 

 

13

file:///S:/Meetings%20-%20tfr%20to%20Sharepoint/REPORT%20NUMBERS
http://rutlandcounty.moderngov.co.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=300&Year=0
mailto:sdellarocca@rutland.gov.uk


1 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT  

1.1 To seek approval of a Strategy for achieving financial sustainability over the 
medium term. 

2 BACKGROUND AND MAIN CONSIDERATIONS  

2.1 Our objectives 

2.1.1 We have two key financial objectives which are clearly stated in our approved 
Corporate Strategy: 

• The Council is committed to being financially sustainable. This means 
ensuring it can live “within its means”, only spending the funding it receives 
and balancing the budget in any given year without using General Fund 
reserves. This is our number one priority.  The Corporate Strategy reaffirms 
this commitment and it was supported by most Members.  This is an important 
message to all stakeholders – Members, staff, partners and public alike.   

• The second key priority is to maintain our reserves above the current 
recommended minimum limit of £3m as approved by Council. This is important 
because the context we are working in is changing all the time and is laced 
with uncertainty. Wee always want to keep a level of funding aside to respond 
to a crisis, unexpected costs or increased demand.  This level is advised by 
the Council’s s151 Officer (see budget report 09/2022) and is revisited every 
year. 

2.2 Current outlook 

2.2.1 Our Medium-Term Financial Plan (MTFP) projects the resources we will have 
available in place over the next five years to support delivery of services and our 
strategic aims and objectives. Our MTFP is kept under constant review and tells us 
whether we can “live within our means” or whether we need to take action. It is an 
important document and is reported frequently to Councillors in finance reports and 
briefings.   

2.2.2 We are emerging from a global pandemic and public finances are under real 
pressure resulting from unprecedented levels of borrowing. This context plays 
heavily into our corporate plan priorities and commitments but against a backdrop 
of financial uncertainty and an unprecedented cost of living crisis. 

2.2.3 The MTFP has its limitations – it is based on lots of unknowns and assumptions 
(most of which are outside our control).  This report does not go into detail about 
these assumptions – many of them have been explored in the Budget Report 
(09/2022) and Outturn report. 

2.2.4 Cabinet has been advised of the projected financial position including the detailed 
assumptions and uncertainties that underpin it. Cabinet understands the 
assumptions made and the extent to which the Council has control over them. We 
have also modelled alternative funding scenarios and their impact so that Cabinet 
is not only of the projected financial gap but how this could change.  Cabinet 
understand the financial position and the serious challenge facing the Council.  We 
are also confident that other Members understand the challenge facing the Council, 
the state of both the local and national financial position.  

14



2.2.5 Whatever its limitations, the MTFP tells us that: 

• Our spending plans exceed our available funding; 

• Our “excess spending” is significant in terms of the % reduction in expenditure 
required particularly given savings already made; 

• We have reserve balances that can meet the “excess spending” in the short 
term; 

• The reserve balances will eventually be depleted unless one of two things 
happen – we generate/receive more funding or reduce expenditure. 

2.2.6 Our projections indicate that we are likely to have a financial gap of around £2.8m 
in 23/24, but one that grows over the period of the strategy.  The growth in the gap 
reflects the fact that our projected increases in funding cannot keep pace with the 
inflation applied to existing spending plans.  The increase in the gap is such that our 
balances (non ringfenced earmarked reserves and general fund) are projected to 
go from £15.8m (prediected by the end of 22/23) to below the minimum level by the 
end of 26/27.  

2.2.7 Table 1: Projected Deficit (from mid year report 22/23, Appendix E) 

23/24  24/25 25/26 26/27 27/28 

2.793m 4.443m 4.778m 5.835m 6.989m 

2.3 Learning to date 

2.3.1 The issue of financial sustainability has never been far from the Council’s priorities. 
The Council has always taken its financial responsibilities seriously. The Council 
has a good track record of delivering savings and over the years has rarely used 
reserves as a means of balancing the budget. Members have also increased 
Council Tax by the maximum amount, in all but one year, recognising the Council’s 
high dependency on council tax under the current funding methodology.   

2.3.2 Based on the funding position, previous savings delivered and current work ongoing, 
there is some key learning that will shape future plans: 

a) Officers have been through all budgets to identify the extent to which budgets 
are controllable.  They have posed question for Members to consider 
informally such as “Should we continue to offer business rate discounts for 
local sports clubs and societies?” and “Should we reduce our current respite 
offer?”.  The total savings that could be made if Members pursued all 
savings generated by the review is not sufficient to close our financial 
gap.   

b) In light of the above, our considered view is that our scrutiny of the 
budget/spending has to go deeper and requires independence.  Across the 
Council we need to fundamentally change what the Council delivers to 
the community in order for our total service offer to be affordable – one 
where spend is much less.  The detail of what an affordable service offer” 
will look like will depend on political preferences,  choices and whether the 

15



Council can through different ways of working deliver the same outcomes for 
less.  

c) Many Councils including our own arenow entering unchartered territory. The 
seriousness of the financial outlook means that the Council’s 
prioritisation and rationalisation of services will probably need to go 
beyond what most might find acceptable in any other 
circumstances.  Fundamentally, there is a significant risk that the Council will 
not be able to command a majority to support the difficult decisions that may 
have to be made.  Informally, Members have undertaken work to determine 
their preparedness to take decisions on a wide range of issues following the 
work done by Officers. The outcome of this work has been largely positive but 
there are areas where there is not unanimous agreement and more 
importantly delivery of all options is not sufficient to close the gap. 

d) We are now entering a phase where strong leadership is required.  There is 
a risk that Officers and Members  avoid tabling difficult choices that 
impact them, their staff or the community they represent or to look for 
reasons to avoid making decisions.  No one wants to bring forward a 
financial decision that might divide the Councol like the Local Plan proposals 
did. But financial survival depends on it. 

e) There may be some Officers and Members with an optimistic outlook, who 
believe that Councils will not be allowed to ‘go bankrupt’ and that future 
funding will increase to the point that a plan is not required.  This is not the 
case.  We are clear that even with a substantial increase in Government 
funding, we are left with the same challenge. 

2.3.3 The above learning has been factored into our proposed plan. 

3 OUR PLAN 

3.1 Our responsibilities 

3.1.1 Council Members and Officers have various responsibilities in relation to financial 
management as per the Corporate Strategy commitments.  At a more detailed level, 
these include: 

• Approving a strategy for achieving financial sustainability (3.2); 

• Putting in place a plan to deliver that strategy (3.3).  A plan that does two 
things a) transforms the way we deliver so that we reduce waste and efficiency 
and we get maximum value for our spend, and b) delivers a smaller Council 
spending less on its portfolio of services whilst protecting the most vulnerable 
and enabling the community to do more for itself; 

• Take the necessary action to deliver that plan through budget setting, policy 
decision making, monitoring and other behaviours (3.4). 

3.1.2 These elements are discussed in more detail below. 

3.2 Strategy 

3.2.1 There are various questions that will drive any plan of action. One key question is 

16



around “what is our target date for breaking even?”  Financially, the preferred 
answer is as soon as possible as no organisation wants to spend more than the 
funding it has coming in. 

3.2.2 However, it is difficult to envisage a situation where the Council could or should 
realistically  break even in the next budget - 23/24 or even 24/25.  There are various 
reasons for this: 

i) The size of the gap is significant as it is 7% of the projected budget; 

ii) There are no savings left to deliver that do not have an impact on the 
current service offer – this makes any further savings more difficult to 
approve politically as individuals/community may be affected; 

iii) The Council has ‘business as usual’ to deliver and a significant additional 
workload – some of which is driven locally but a lot is driven by the national 
agenda (see Appendix A); 

iv) The Council does not have a set of savings proposals ready to present in 
areas where we know the current service offer will have to change to an 
‘affordable’ one.  For example, whilst it may be easy to say we would like 
to spend 50% less on any service, working up an offer, consulting upon it 
and then seeking political agreement takes significant time and investment.  
The spending tap cannot be turned off quickly; and 

v) Breaking-even would require significant cuts to services including 
reductions in support to the most vulnerable at a time of great 
uncertainty.  The assumption/expectation that Members would commit to 
such reductions without future funding certainty is unrealistic.  In addition, 
cutting quickly would reduce capacity to deliver the medium term change. 

3.2.3 It is Cabinet’s view, which is supported by the s151 Officer, therefore that there are 
many good reasons to set a medium-term target for breaking even: 

i) We have a volatile gap with many uncontrollable variables, e.g. pay award, 
which make it difficult to be certain about the size of the gap; 

ii) We await our Government funding envelope - we expect a two year 
settlement in 23/23 based on direction from the then Minister Michael Gove 
and a multi-year settlement after a General Election which should give us 
greater certainty; 

iii) We are required to implement Government reforms - the reforms to be 
implemented over next 2-3 years will reshape key services.  Failing to 
implement reforms would be a breach of our statutory requirements; 

iv) We need to undertake key procurements - Council retendering of key 
services (leisure, waste management, highways) will provide certainty 
over costs and allow the financial impact can be assessed; 

v) We have a range of activity ongoing that will positively impact our financial 
position but will take time to deliver including investment in a 
Transformation programme; 

17



vi) We have sufficient reserves (current non ringfenced reserves projected to 
be £15.8m at 31 March 2023) to get through the next two years and plan 
a more considered approach to closing the financial gap. 

3.2.4 It is Cabinet’s proposal, based on current information, that: 

i) A target date of 27/28 is set for a break even budget.  This means that the 
Council’s aim will be set a 27/28 budget with no reliance on reserves for 
ongoing expenditure. 

ii) The Council will use non ringfenced reserves to balance the budget prior 
to 27/28 (if required) but will limit use of such reserves to £2m per annum 
for a maximum of 4 years. 

iii) The Council commits to making the necessary savings that allows it to limit 
use of reserves to £2m. 

iv) The Council pursues a policy of maximum council tax rises (current 
maximum allowable) reinvesting part of any additional yield to support  the 
cost of living crisis and those on low incomes. 

v) The Council continues with the range of activity outlined in Appendix A. 

vi) The Council produces a detailed savings plan building on the initial draft 
set out in Appendix B.  

vii) The Council continues to lobby for fair funding for Rutland and reform for 
the sector as a whole. 

viii) The Council continues to bid for available grants that contribute to our 
overall ambition. 

ix) The Council reinforces the financial principles agreed in June 2021 by 
Council (Appendix C) 

3.2.5 The Strategy is exemplified in the table below. 

 23/24  24/25 25/26 26/27 27/28 

Projected gap 2.793m 4.443m 4.778m 5.835m 6.989m 

Total savings 
required 

0.800m 2.443m 2.778m 3.835m 6.989m 

(New savings) 0.800m 1.643m 0.335m 1.057m 3.831m 

Use of reserves 
(capped at £2m) 

2.000m 2.000m 2.000m 2.000m 0.000m 

Reserve balances 13.800m 11.800m 9.800m 7.800m 7.800m 

For the purposes of our work, the Council will use the term non ringfenced 
reserves to include the General Fund balances plus earmarked reserves that 
whilst earmarked could in effect be made available to subsidise the budget. 

18



This classification is helpful as it excludes statutory ringfenced reserves and 
those such as the Local Plan reserve which is already committed. 

3.2.6 The implications of these proposals are noted below: 

• successful delivery of this Strategy will mean that the Council will be able to 
retain a healthy reserve balance by 27/28; 

• the savings required, even with the use of reserves, are still significant and 
are likely to have a big impact on services; 

• should no additional Government funding be forthcoming then it will be difficult 
for the Council to deliver services and reduce expenditure; 

• the numbers and assumptions are subject to change.  

3.3 Our change plan  

3.3.1 In our context, a written statement and understanding of the financial position is in 
itself not sufficient.  However difficult and challenging the Council must have a 
realistic plan to close the financial gap and must take the necessary action to deliver 
it.  

3.3.2 Ideally the size of the programme would cover the whole gap by at least 10% 
accepting that some initiatives may deliver less, additional pressures will emerge or 
Members decide to reject some proposals.  The programme as it stands is not 
sufficient.  The key direction for our Transformation partner is to help us add to the 
plan.. The Council has now appointed Human Engine as its partner and this work 
has begun. 

3.3.3 From our work to date and conversations thus far with our Transformation Partner, 
is clear that any plan will have to achieve two things:  

a) transform the way we deliver so that we reduce waste and maximise 
efficiency, and we get maximum value for our spend.  Our Transformation 
work will allow us to develop an operating model that achieves this. But, the 
notion that a change of operating model will in itself will deliver the extent of 
savings required is unrealistic with the vast majority of savings expected 
from moving to an “affordable service” offer. 

b) delivers a smaller but functional Council that spends less on service offer (its 
portfolio of services) whilst protecting the most vulnerable and enabling the 
community to do more for itself. 

3.3.4 The Council has drafted a savings programme – bringing together all work done 
over the last few years and existing activity.  The programme comprises various 
elements: 

a) a programme of work targeted at working up an ‘affordable offer’ across 
a range of key services.  Appendix B1 shows a list of key service areas and 
the level of savings required to get to an overall affordable level.  Working with 
our Transformation Partner, we would like to define what an affordable service 
offer might look like taking into account statutory responsibilities and 

19



alternative delivery models.  The responses to the questions answered by 
Members will play into this. To be absolutely clear, this means that after 
Transformation and most likely after the May 2023 election, we would like to 
present to Members proposals that would achieve the targets (or similar) set 
out in Appendix B1. 

b) a programme of other planned savings work which Officers will progress 
outside the Transformation programme (Appendix B2). These are more short 
term in nature but can be progressed without Transformation assistance.  
Alongside this work, the Council will have to consider short savings  options.  
This may involve holding vacant posts e.g. climate change officer approved 
but not yet recruited to, reducing service hours e.g., libraries and temporary 
spending reductions e.g. public rights of way or IT.  These options will need 
to be evaluated with proposals coming forward in the 23/24 budget. The need 
for this type of saving is imperative as it will some take some time to progress 
more substantial projects but will impact on our ability to deliver.   

c) a range of other work being done (Appendix A) that contributes to the 
savings programme including work which is focused on cost avoidance.  
The Council recognises that cost avoidance is as important as savings.  Work 
on SEND and the Asset Review will need to deliver to avoid the financial gap 
increasing. 

3.3.5 From here on, the Council’s Finance workgroup group (comprising Cabinet and 
CLT) will be closely monitoring the status of the programme and will provide periodic 
updates to all Members.  We are also developing our governance arrangements for 
the Transformation work which will involve keeping Members abreast of what is 
happening. 

3.4 Corporate behaviours 

3.4.1 The endorsement of a Strategy and Plan must be accompanied by commensurate 
decision-making and other behaviours.  Failure to do so could compromise what 
the Council is trying to achieve.   

3.4.2 To this end, Council Members are asked to: 

• Be fully committed to the principles agreed in Appendix B and adopt 
behaviours that are commensurate with them; 

• Support adherence to agreed policy and commitments; 

• Carefully consider any budget pressures and either a) reject them if that is an 
option or if this is not possible then b) require that something else is stopped 
or reduced to accommodate them.  This may be challenging; 

• Minimise additional non-financial workload on service teams unless absolutely 
necessary; 

• Understand  that delivery beneficial change eats into capacity and that there 
may be times where performance may be impacted;  

20



• Be prepared to support short term savings action such as holding vacant posts 
(and the associated impacts) whilst the Council takes medium term savings 
projects forward; and 

• Lead and Support Council’s efforts to make savings with residents recognising 
that there may be some discomfort but that the Council does not have 
significant alternatives. 

3.4.3 It is imperative that we create a working environment where can deliver the change 
necessary whilst delivering our usual work.  Actions taken to support our overall 
ambition such as deferring expenditure or not recruiting to posts may have a short 
term impact that are difficult for Members and staff to absorb but we cannot achieve 
financial sustainability without managing some challenges. 

3.5 What-If and contingencies 

3.5.1 Everyone is aware that our financial position is fraught with risk and that the MTFP 
could change quickly leaving us with a much bigger (or smaller gap).  There are 
some inevitable questions that arises – what will we do if variables change and make 
the position worse? 

3.5.2 In one way, this question is easy to answer.  Short term, we will identify whether 
there are things we can do quickly to buy time e.g.  freeze posts, stop expenditure.  
Medium term, we will continue to take action to move as close as possible to an 
affordable service offer (as per the comment in 3.3.4b) and put proposals to 
Members to that effect. 

3.5.3 The Council can do no more that identify all of the possible options available to it.  
An increasing gap does not mean more opportunities become available, it simply 
means we have to pursue options that may feel like the ‘last resort’ as explained 
above. 

3.5.4 Conversely, if the Council was to receive more funding then the position does not 
change.  A substantial increase in funding, say 20%, would still leave a sizeable 
gap.  Substantial savings would still be required and progressing all options may 
give choices that a lower level of funding may not. 

4 CONSULTATION  

4.1 The Council is not required to consult on this matter.    

5 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS   

5.1 The Council has a choice to reject, approve or modify the proposed strategy.  
Extending the period for balancing the budget with reserves is not considered 
advisable. 

6 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS  

6.1 The implications associated with this Strategy are set out in Section 3.2.5 and 3.2.6. 

7 LEGAL AND GOVERNANCE CONSIDERATIONS  

7.1 The Council has a duty to balance the budget.  Not being able to balance the budget 

21



has more serious consequences for local authorities than the public may realise 
because for a local authority avoiding a deficit is a legal requirement under the Local 
Government Finance Act.  

7.2 What is meant by ‘balanced’ requires s151 Officers to use their professional 
judgement and interpretation. The Director for Resources supports the CIPFA 
definition. For local government, at its very simplest, a balanced budget means that 
the council is content that the combination of income, the sensible use of reserves 
and having robust savings plans in place means that underlying income will cover 
on-going costs and future commitments in a sustainable and manageable way. 

7.3 The Director for Resources believes that the proposed strategy meets this 
requirement for now. 

7.4 The provisional inclusion of savings in the Savings Programme does not circumvent 
the need for savings to be approved (or consultation to take place) in due course 
through budget setting and other financial decision making. 

8 DATA PROTECTION IMPLICATIONS  

8.1 A Data Protection Impact Assessments (DPIA) has not been completed because 
there are no risks/issues to the rights and freedoms of natural persons. 

9 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT  

9.1 An Equality Impact Assessment has not been completed because there are no 
service, policy or organisational changes being proposed.  

10 COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS  

10.1 There are no community safety implications arising from this report.  

11 HEALTH AND WELLBEING IMPLICATIONS  

11.1 There are no health and wellbeing implications arising from this report.  

12 CONCLUSION AND SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR THE 
RECOMMENDATIONS  

12.1 The Council has a duty to produce a balanced budget and this Strategy explains 
how that will be achieved 

13 BACKGROUND PAPERS   

13.1 There are no background papers.  

14 APPENDICES  

Appendix A - Ongoing activity  

Appendix B1 – Savings: Illustrative “Affordable Service” Offer 

Appendix B2 – Other Savings Programme 

Appendix C - Principles 

22



A Large Print Version of this Report is available upon 
request – Contact 01572 722577.  
 

 

  

23



Appendix A – Ongoing activity 

The Council has action in train some strategic work which could have an impact on its 
financial position.  This is a significant agenda that has a capacity impact. 

Area Focus Potential impact 

Transformation Development of a new organisational 
business model and delivery of 
savings 

Minimum £1m built into 
savings programme but aim 
to go beyond that 

Asset Review Review of assets with a view to 
disposing of non required assets  

Minimise future liabilities, 
possible ongoing revenue 
savings 

SEND  Participation in Delivering Better 
Value programme aimed at facilitating 
the Council to live within its DSG 
budget 

Possible reduction of use of 
SEN reserve and reduction in 
ongoing revenue costs 
(outside of DSG) 

Continuous 
Lobbying  

Involvement with the MP and lobby 
groups e.g Sparse regarding 
Levelling up and Fairer Funding for 
Rutland residents. Grant application 

Maximum Government 
exposure. Maximum 
opportunity for receipt of 
additional grant income 

Social Care 
reforms 

Council is implementing the care cap 
for which it will receive additional 
funding.  It is also undertaking a Fair 
Cost of Care review which is likely to 
see an increase in residential and 
home care rates which the 
Government will provide funding. 

Funding may not cover all 
costs. 

Local 
Transport Plan 

This work necessitates a review of 
local transport arrangements which is 
local priority and a target area for 
savings.  Scrutiny is also doing some 
work which may contribute. 

Reduction in amount spent 
on transport but a transport 
network that better meets 
local needs. 

Culture  Scrutiny undertaking a review of 
Museum operations to provide input 
to a wider review of the Cultural Offer  

There is an ultimate target to 
run cultural services at nil 
cost. 

Local Plan Work continues to developing a new 
Local Plan. 

Working group should be 
focusing on minimising spend 
and releasing funds back to 
the General Fund 

Highways 
reprocurement 

Highways services to be reprocured Potential for costs to go up or 
down depending on the 
market and what the Council 
chooses to commission 

24



Area Focus Potential impact 

Waste 
reprocurement 

Waste and environmental services to 
be reprocured in future and 
consideration to be given in 
investment in a Council owned waste 
transfer station.  Delays in 
reprocurement may give time to 
reconsider options. 

Potential for costs to go up or 
down depending on the 
market and what the Council 
chooses to commission 

Elections 2023 Council preparing for next May all out 
elections 

New Council may have a new 
agenda and different priorities 

 

 

  

25



Appendix B1 – Illustrative ‘Affordable service offer’ 

In key areas of spend, the Council’s current offer is unaffordable irrespective of 
performance or the views of residents.  The Council will have to move towards an 
‘affordable service offer’.  Exactly what this looks like have to be defined in due course but 
it will involve spending substantially less, reductions in service unless mitigations can be 
identified, reduction in management and overheads. 

The areas listed below are key areas of spend and illustrative figures which shows the 
extent of spending reduction required.    

Area Budget 
22/23 
(original)- 
£m 

Affordable 
budget 

Adult Social Care £13.940m £12.600m 
Childrens services £5.874m £5.374m 
Back Office services £4.746m £4.346m 
School transport £2.185m £1.900m 
Public transport £1.021m £0.700m 
Waste and recycling £3.349m £3.000m 
Public protection/environment £1.955m £1.700m 
Highways £1.277m £1.000m 
Cultural Services £0.704m £0.550m 
Council tax discounts and 
support for business 

£0.800m £0.650m 

Total £35.851m £31.820m 
 

26



Appendix B2 – Potential “Other savings” 

Area Project 
23/24 24/25 25/26 26/27 27/28 

Grants 

The Council plans to set aside a %/amount of new grants to 
cover the associated service and management overhead 
subject to terms and conditions.   

£100,000 £100,000 £100,000 £100,000 £100,000 

Council Tax 

A new law will provide billing authorities with the power to 
levy a premium of up to 100% on council tax bills for second 
homes, and for empty homes after one year (as opposed to 
two years which is the current requirement). The new powers 
reinforce the incentive for owners to bring empty properties 
back into use and support councils in addressing the impacts 
of empty and second homes.  

£0 £0 £400,000 £400,000 £400,000 

Printers 

The Council leases 24 printers with the contract expiring.  A 
key factor on the cost of the contract is the number of 
printers and as part of a new printer procurement we would 
expect to radically reduce the total number of printers in the 
contract.  In the interim, Council to consider tighter rules over 
printing. 

£0 £5,000 £5,000 £5,000 10,000 

Community 
Learning 
Fees and 
Charges 
Review 

Community Learning charges are checked regionally through 
The Local Education Authorities' Forum for the Education of 
Adults (LEAFEA) (next review due 25-03-2023) and through 
HOLEX which represents a network of adult and community 
learning providers across the country. 

£0 £10,000 £10,000 £10,000 £10,000 

Fees and 
charges 

Various opportunities to be explored for new charges for 
additional black bins, stolen bins, developers bins and inert 
waste 

£0 £0 £0 £0 £0 

Post 16 
Transport 

The Council could revise its current offer and policy (i.e. 
means test) and alternatives will be explored. 

£0 £50,000 £100,000 £100,000 £100,000 

27



Area Project 
23/24 24/25 25/26 26/27 27/28 

Offer Any revised offer would need a policy change timed to be 
implemented in the summer months before the start of a 
new academic year.  It would also need to include continued 
support for year 2 of any current learners on the 2nd year of 
a course.   

     

Support 
Services 

Pending wider review of support services offer, interim 
savings of £100,000 are expected from vacant posts in 
Business Support 

£100,000 £100,000 £100,000 £100,000 £100,000 

Short term 
vacancy 
savings 

Pending further work on affordable service offers, some 
planned recruitment has been deferred and vacancies held.  
This includes Climate Change Officer 

£50,000 £0 £0 £0 £0 

Schools 
Admissions 
service 

The Council has a contract with Capita to provide the IT 
system for the admissions service.  On renewal there may be 
alternative options for this service. 

£0 £0 £50,000 £0 £0 

Investment 
Income 

Interest rate projections give us an opportunity to review our 
strategy and achieve more from investments £300,000 £300,000  £0  £0  £0 

 

 

  

28



Appendix C – Financial principles 

We will enable and empower our communities to do more for themselves 

We will work with others who are better placed to deliver objectives 

We will seed fund initiatives that will deliver long term savings 

We will borrow to capital invest (and reduce revenue costs) 

We will focus on those in greatest need 

We will not deliver services that have low value 

We will identify services that we will operate commercially (minimum break-even) 

We will focus ringfenced/grant funding on prevention/work that reduces ongoing revenue costs 

We will charge for services where we can 

We will provide information, guidance and advice to help people self-serve 

 

29



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

30



Document is Restricted

31

Agenda Item 10c
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

35

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

49

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

51

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Report No: 175/2022 
PUBLIC REPORT 

COUNCIL 
7 November 2022 

APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT PERSON 

Report of the Portfolio Holder for Finance, Governance and Performance, Change 
and Transformation 

Strategic Aim: All 

Exempt Information Appendix A of this report contains exempt information 
and is not for publication in accordance with Paragraph 
1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government 
Act 1972.  

Cabinet Member(s) 
Responsible: 

Cllr K Payne, Portfolio Holder for Finance, Governance 
and Performance, Change and Transformation 

Contact 
Officer(s): 

Angela Wakefield, Director of Legal 
and Governance, Monitoring Officer 

awakefield@rutland.gov.uk 

Ward Councillors N/A 

 

DECISION RECOMMENDATIONS 

That Council: 

1. Approve the appointment of the recommended Independent Person. 

 

1 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT  

1.1 To recommend to Council that the recommended individual is appointed as an 
Independent Person for Rutland County Council.  

2 BACKGROUND AND MAIN CONSIDERATIONS  

2.1 The Localism Act 2011 requires a relevant authority to make provision for the 
appointment of at least one Independent Person, whose views are sought, and 
taken into account, by the authority, before it makes a decision on a complaint 
regarding the conduct of members of the County Council or any of the parish 
councils within Rutland.  

2.2 The Independent Person assists the Council in promoting and maintaining high 
standards of conduct amongst its elected and co-opted members and town and 
parish Councillors.   

55

Agenda Item 15

file:///S:/Meetings%20-%20tfr%20to%20Sharepoint/REPORT%20NUMBERS


2.3 Mr Gordon Grimes was appointed by Council as an Independent Member in April 
2014.  His most recent appointment has expired. 

2.4 A recruitment exercise to appoint Independent Persons was undertaken in August 
2022 by the Monitoring Officer.  Mr Grimes was one of the applicants and was 
interviewed on 1st September 2022 by the Monitoring Officer and Deputy Monitoring 
Officer.  Following the interview with Mr Grimes, it is the Monitoring Officer’s 
recommendation that he is appointed as an Independent Person. 

2.5 No other suitable candidates were identified in the recruitment process.   

3 CONSULTATION  

3.1 The current Chairman of the Conduct Committee, Cllr A Brown, has been consulted 
and is in support of the continued use of Mr Grimes as Independent Person. 

4 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS  

4.1 The Council could make use of a panel established by neighbouring authorities. 

5 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 The financial implications arising from this report are minimal; the Independent 
Person is paid a fixed allowance of £500 per annum and may also claim expenses. 

6 LEGAL AND GOVERNANCE CONSIDERATIONS  

6.1 Section 28 of the Localism Act 2011 requires a relevant authority to make provision 
for the appointment of at least one Independent Person “whose views are to be 
sought, and taken into account, by the authority before it makes its decision on an 
allegation that it has decided to investigate”. 

7 DATA PROTECTION IMPLICATIONS  

7.1 A Data Protection Impact Assessments (DPIA) has not been completed because 
there are no risks or issues to the rights and freedoms of natural persons. 

8 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT  

8.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) was completed prior to the previous 
appointment of the Independent Person in 2019. No adverse impacts were 
identified. 

9 COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS  

9.1 There are no community safety implications. 

10 HEALTH AND WELLBEING IMPLICATIONS   

10.1 There are no health and wellbeing implications. 

11 CONCLUSION AND SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS  

11.1 The relevant legislation requires the appointment of at least one Independent 
Person to support the Council to deliver an effective standards regime.  Mr Grimes 

56



was the only suitable candidate in an open recruitment process.  

12 BACKGROUND PAPERS  

12.1 There are no additional background papers. 

13 APPENDICES  

13.1 Appendix A (Exempt) – Application of the recommended candidate for Independent 
Person.   

 

A Large Print or Braille Version of this Report is available 
upon request – Contact 01572 722577. 
 

 

57



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

59

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Report No: 176/2022 
PUBLIC REPORT 

COUNCIL 
7 November 2022 

POLITICAL BALANCE AND ALLOCATION OF SEATS TO 
POLITICAL GROUP 

Report of the Monitoring Officer 

Strategic Aim: A modern and effective Council  

Exempt Information No 

Cabinet Member(s) 
Responsible: 

Cllr K Payne, Portfolio Holder for Finance, 
Governance and Performance, Change and 
Transformation 

Contact Officer(s): Angela Wakefield, Director of Legal 
and Governance 

01572 758220 
awakefield@rutland.gov.uk  

 Tom Delaney, Governance Manager 01572 720993 
tdelaney@rutland.gov.uk 

Ward Councillors NA 

 

DECISION RECOMMENDATIONS 

That Council:  

1) Adopts the political balance calculation for the Council at Table A. 

2) Approves the allocation of seats to Political Groups, as determined by the political 
balance, as set out in Appendix A of the report.  

3) Notes the revised group’s nominations for Committees in Appendix A based on 
the seats allocated.  

4) Approves the appointment of non-aligned Members to Committees as outlined in 
Appendix A  

 
1 PURPOSE OF THE REPORT 

1.1 To request that Council approve the political balance calculation for the Council 
following several events to change the political makeup of the Council, agrees the 
number of voting places, and allocates seats to political groups on relevant 
committees appointed by Council. 

 

63

Agenda Item 16

file:///S:/Meetings%20-%20tfr%20to%20Sharepoint/REPORT%20NUMBERS


2 BACKGROUND AND MAIN CONSIDERATIONS  

2.1 The Council is required by Section 15 of the Local Government and Housing Act 
1989 to review the representation of Groups on Committees at its Annual Meeting 
each year and as soon as practicable after an event, which alters the political 
balance between the Groups and to determine the allocation of seats to be filled by 
appointments by the Council. 

2.2 The Council set the previous political balance and allocation of seats at Annual 
Council on 9 May 2022 (subsequently adjusted on 4 July following the uncontested 
Oakham South by-election) and established the following Committees to which 
political proportionality applies, with 49 seats available in total. 

Committee Number of Seats 

Audit and Risk Committee 7 

Conduct Committee 7 

Constitution Commission  7 

Employment and Appeals Committee 7 

Planning and Licensing Committee 12 

Strategic Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 

9 

Total 49 

 

2.3 On 12 October 2022, Councillor A Walters left the Independents and Green Group 
and now sits as a non-aligned Member. Thereby requiring a review of the political 
balance calculations.  

3 CHANGES TO POLITICAL AFFLIATION AND SUBSEUQNT POLITICAL 
BALANCE AND ALLOCATION OF SEATS TO GROUPS 

3.1 Following the above change, the Political Composition of the Council and 
subsequent allocation of seats is set out in Table A below: 

Group Number of 
Councillors 
(With change 
from July 
2022) 

As a % of 
27 

Number of 
Seats 

Rounded 
number of 
Seats (With 
change from 
July 2022 

Independents and 
Green Group 

6 (-1) 22% 10.89 11 (-2) 

Conservatives 6 22% 10.89 11 

64



Liberal 
Democrats 

6 22% 10.89 11 

Together4Rutland 4 15% 7.26 7 

Non-aligned 5 (+1) 19% 9.07 9 (+2) 

Totals 27 100% 49.00  

 

3.2 Political balances requires that the Independents and Green Group cede two seats 
to non-aligned Members and in discussion with all groups it has been agreed these 
be from the Audit and Risk Committee and the Employment and Appeals 
Committee.  

3.3 The allocations set out in Appendix A shows the proposed allocation of seats to 
groups and appointment of non-aligned Members in line with Table A.  

4 CONSULTATION  

4.1 All Group Leaders and non-aligned Members have been consulted during the 
preparation of this report and Appendix A reflects these discussions.  

5 ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS  

5.1 In line with the relevant legislation, the Council must review the Political Balance 
and allocation of seats at its Annual Council or as soon as practicable after events 
to change the political balance have occurred. 

5.2 The Council could choose to adopt a Political Balance calculation not to include 
nonaligned Members as set out in Table B below but this is not recommended as 
the principle of appointing non-aligned Members to Committees has been approved 
by Council at every opportunity since May 2021. 

Group Number of 
Councillors  

As a % of 
22  

Number of 
Seats 

Rounded 
number of 
Seats  

Independents and 
Green Group 

6  27% 13.36 13 

Conservatives 6 27% 13.36 13 

Liberal 
Democrats 

6 27% 13.36 13 

Together4Rutland 4 18% 8.91 9 

Totals 22 100% 49.00 48 

 

 

65



6 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS  

6.1 There are no financial implications arising from this report. 

7 LEGAL AND GOVERNANCE CONSIDERATIONS  

7.1 The Council is required to review the representation of Political Groups at its Annual 
Meeting each year and as soon as practicable after an event, which alters the 
political balance between the Groups and to determine the allocation of seats to be 
filled by appointments by the Council. This is in accordance with Sections 15 to 17 
of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 and Section 8 of the Local 
Government (Committees and Political Groups) Regulations 1990. 

7.2 The allocation of seats is required to conform to the principles of proportionality 
contained in sections 15 and 16 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989. 

7.3 There is a duty to give effect to the following principles, as far as reasonably 
practicable, in the order shown: 

7.3.1 Not all the seats on the body are allocated to the same political group 

7.3.2 A majority of the seats on a body are allocated to a group if it comprises a majority 
of the total membership of the authority. 

7.3.3 Subject to 7.3.1 and 7.3.2 above, that the number of seats on ordinary committees 
allocated to each group bears the same proportion to the total of all seats on ordinary 
committees as is borne by the number of members of that group to the total 
membership of the authority. 

7.3.4 Subject to 7.3.1 to 7.3.3 above, that the number of seats on a body allocated to each 
group bears the same proportion to the number of seats on that body as is borne by 
the number of members of that group to the total membership of the authority. 

7.3.5 For political balance, a group is required to have at least two members in order to 
be formally constituted as a political group. 

7.4 Legislation and Procedure Rule 17 require the allocation of seats strictly in 
accordance with political group membership at the time. This means that nonaligned 
members do not automatically qualify. However, provided no member of the Council 
votes against any proposed arrangement that departs from strict proportionality, 
seats can be allocated to non-aligned members as recommended in the Report. 

8 DATA PROTECTION IMPLICATIONS  

8.1 A Data Protection Impact Assessments (DPIA) has not been completed as no 
personal data has been processed in the preparation of the report. 

9 EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT  

9.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) has not been completed because there are 
no service, policy or organisational changes being proposed. 

10 COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS  

10.1 There are no community safety implications arising from the report. 

66



11 HEALTH AND WELLBEING IMPLICATIONS  

11.1 There are no health or wellbeing implications arising from the report. 

12 ORGANISATIONAL IMPLICATIONS  

12.1 There are no organisational implications arising from the report. 

13 CONCLUSION AND SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS  

13.1 The report sets out changes that have affected the political composition of the 
Council and a new Political Balance calculation to reflect this, and the subsequent 
nominations of Political Groups to match this calculation. 

13.2 The Council is recommended to agree the Political Balance and allocation of 
Committee seats to Political Groups as set out in Appendix A in order to satisfy 
legislative requirements and ensure that Committee seats are filled. 

14 BACKGROUND PAPERS  

14.1 Report No. 90/2022 and Appendices - Political Balance and Allocation of Seats to 
Political Groups. Considered by Annual Council on 9 May 2022. 

14.2 Report No. 124/2022 and Appendices - Political Balance and Allocation of Seats to 
Political Groups. Considered by Council on 4 July 2022.  

15 APPENDICES  

15.1 Appendix A - Committee Allocations to Political Groups and Membership as 
informed by Group Leaders at time of publication. 

 

A Large Print or Braille Version of this Report is available 
upon request – Contact 01572 722577.  
 

 

 

67



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 
 
Report No. 176/2022 Appendix A – Committee Allocations and nominations by Political 
Groups and non-aligned Members at time of publication.  
 

 CONDUCT 
COMMITTEE 

 

 Councillor Group 
1 Andrew Brown Independents and 

Green 
2 Sue Webb Independents and 

Green 
3 Kenneth Bool Conservative 
4 Lucy Stephenson Conservative 
5 Joanna Burrows  Liberal Democrat 
6 Samantha Harvey Non-aligned 
7 Oliver Hemsley Non-aligned 

 AUDIT & RISK 
COMMITTEE 

 

 Councillor Group 
1 David Blanksby  Independents and 

Green   
2 Edward Baines Conservative 
3 William Cross Conservative 
4 Abigail MacCartney  Liberal Democrat   
5 Ray Payne  Liberal Democrat   
6 June Fox Together4Rutland   
7  Alan Walters  Non-Aligned  

 CONSTITUTION 
COMMISSION  

 

 Councillor Group 
1 Marc Oxley Independents and 

Green 
2 Rosemary Powell  Independents and 

Green 
3   Lucy Stephenson  Conservative 
4 Gale Waller Liberal Democrat 
5 Paul Browne Liberal Democrat 
6 Gordon Brown Together4Rutland   
7 Oliver Hemsley Non-aligned  

 EMPLOYMENT & 
APPEALS 
COMMITTEE 

 

 Councillor Group 
1 Rosemary Powell Independents and 

Green 
2 Karen Payne Conservative 
3 Gale Waller Liberal Democrat 
4 June Fox/ Paul Ainsley Together4Rutland 
5 Jeff Dale Non-aligned  
6 Samantha Harvey Non-aligned  
7 Alan Walters Non-aligned  

69



 
 

 STRATEGIC 
OVERVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE  

 

 Councillor Group 
1 Andrew Brown Independents and 

Green 
2 Rick Wilson Independents and 

Green 
3 Edward Baines Conservative 
4 Kenneth Bool Conservative 
5 Stephen Lambert Liberal Democrat 
6 Gale Waller Liberal Democrat 
7 Paul Ainsley  Together4Rutland 
8 Nick Begy Together4Rutland 
9 Leah Toseland Non-aligned 

 PLANNING & 
LICENSING 
COMMITTEE 

 

 Councillor Group 
1 David Blanksby  Independents and 

Green 
2 Andrew Brown Independents and 

Green 
3 Rick Wilson Independents and 

Green 
4 Edward Baines Conservative 
5 Kenneth Bool Conservative 
6 William Cross   Conservative 
7 Paul Browne Liberal Democrat 
8 Abigail MacCartney Liberal Democrat 
9 Ray Payne Liberal Democrat 
10 Nick Begy Together4Rutland 
11 Gordon Brown Together4Rutland 
12 Jeff Dale Non-aligned 

70


	Agenda
	5 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
	10a FINANCIAL SUSTAINABILITY STRATEGY
	1	PURPOSE OF THE REPORT
	1.1	To present Cabinet’s recommendation to Council regarding the Financial Sustainability Strategy for consideration and details of the subject matter can be found in Report No. 158/2022.

	2	BACKGROUND AND MAIN CONSIDERATIONS
	2.1	These are detailed in Report No.158/2022.

	3	CONSULTATION (mandatory)
	3.1	The Council is not required to consult on the matter.

	4	ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS
	4.1	To not receive the Cabinet’s report to Council. However, Procedure Rule 246.3 of the Constitution requires submission of the report.
	4.2	Alternatives to the options are detailed in Report No. 158/2022.

	5	FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
	5.1	These are detailed in Report No.158/2022.

	6	LEGAL AND GOVERNANCE CONSIDERATIONS
	6.1	These are detailed in Report No.158/2022.

	7	DATA PROTECTION IMPLICATIONS
	7.1	A Data Protection Impact Assessments (DPIA) has not been completed because there are no risks/issues to the rights and freedoms of natural persons.

	8	EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT
	8.1	An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) has not been completed because there are no service, policy or organisational changes being proposed.

	9	COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
	9.1	There are no community safety implications arising from this report.

	10	HEALTH AND WELLBEING IMPLICATIONS
	10.1	There are no health and wellbeing implications arising from this report.

	11	ORGANISATIONAL IMPLICATIONS
	11.1	There are no organisational implications arising from the report.

	12	CONCLUSION AND SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS
	12.1	Council is recommended to consider the proposals recommended for approval by Cabinet.

	13	BACKGROUND PAPERS
	13.1	There are no background papers.

	14	APPENDICES
	14.1	Report No. 158/2022 – Financial Sustainability Strategy  Appendix A - Ongoing activity Appendix B1 – Savings: Illustrative “Affordable Service” Offer Appendix B2 – Other Savings Programme Appendix C - Principles

	Report No.158.2022 - Financial Sustainability Strategy, 18/10/2022 Cabinet
	1	PURPOSE OF THE REPORT
	1.1	To seek approval of a Strategy for achieving financial sustainability over the medium term.

	2	BACKGROUND AND MAIN CONSIDERATIONS
	2.1	Our objectives
	2.1.1	We have two key financial objectives which are clearly stated in our approved Corporate Strategy:

	2.2	Current outlook
	2.2.1	Our Medium-Term Financial Plan (MTFP) projects the resources we will have available in place over the next five years to support delivery of services and our strategic aims and objectives. Our MTFP is kept under constant review and tells us whether we can “live within our means” or whether we need to take action. It is an important document and is reported frequently to Councillors in finance reports and briefings.
	2.2.2	We are emerging from a global pandemic and public finances are under real pressure resulting from unprecedented levels of borrowing. This context plays heavily into our corporate plan priorities and commitments but against a backdrop of financial uncertainty and an unprecedented cost of living crisis.
	2.2.3	The MTFP has its limitations – it is based on lots of unknowns and assumptions (most of which are outside our control).  This report does not go into detail about these assumptions – many of them have been explored in the Budget Report (09/2022) and Outturn report.
	2.2.4	Cabinet has been advised of the projected financial position including the detailed assumptions and uncertainties that underpin it. Cabinet understands the assumptions made and the extent to which the Council has control over them. We have also modelled alternative funding scenarios and their impact so that Cabinet is not only of the projected financial gap but how this could change.  Cabinet understand the financial position and the serious challenge facing the Council.  We are also confident that other Members understand the challenge facing the Council, the state of both the local and national financial position.
	2.2.5	Whatever its limitations, the MTFP tells us that:
	2.2.6	Our projections indicate that we are likely to have a financial gap of around £2.8m in 23/24, but one that grows over the period of the strategy.  The growth in the gap reflects the fact that our projected increases in funding cannot keep pace with the inflation applied to existing spending plans.  The increase in the gap is such that our balances (non ringfenced earmarked reserves and general fund) are projected to go from £15.8m (prediected by the end of 22/23) to below the minimum level by the end of 26/27.
	2.2.7	Table 1: Projected Deficit (from mid year report 22/23, Appendix E)

	2.3	Learning to date
	2.3.1	The issue of financial sustainability has never been far from the Council’s priorities. The Council has always taken its financial responsibilities seriously. The Council has a good track record of delivering savings and over the years has rarely used reserves as a means of balancing the budget. Members have also increased Council Tax by the maximum amount, in all but one year, recognising the Council’s high dependency on council tax under the current funding methodology.
	2.3.2	Based on the funding position, previous savings delivered and current work ongoing, there is some key learning that will shape future plans:
	2.3.3	The above learning has been factored into our proposed plan.


	3	OUR PLAN
	3.1	Our responsibilities
	3.1.1	Council Members and Officers have various responsibilities in relation to financial management as per the Corporate Strategy commitments.  At a more detailed level, these include:
	3.1.2	These elements are discussed in more detail below.

	3.2	Strategy
	3.2.1	There are various questions that will drive any plan of action. One key question is around “what is our target date for breaking even?”  Financially, the preferred answer is as soon as possible as no organisation wants to spend more than the funding it has coming in.
	3.2.2	However, it is difficult to envisage a situation where the Council could or should realistically  break even in the next budget - 23/24 or even 24/25.  There are various reasons for this:
	3.2.3	It is Cabinet’s view, which is supported by the s151 Officer, therefore that there are many good reasons to set a medium-term target for breaking even:
	3.2.4	It is Cabinet’s proposal, based on current information, that:
	3.2.5	The Strategy is exemplified in the table below.
	3.2.6	The implications of these proposals are noted below:

	3.3	Our change plan
	3.3.1	In our context, a written statement and understanding of the financial position is in itself not sufficient.  However difficult and challenging the Council must have a realistic plan to close the financial gap and must take the necessary action to deliver it.
	3.3.2	Ideally the size of the programme would cover the whole gap by at least 10% accepting that some initiatives may deliver less, additional pressures will emerge or Members decide to reject some proposals.  The programme as it stands is not sufficient.  The key direction for our Transformation partner is to help us add to the plan.. The Council has now appointed Human Engine as its partner and this work has begun.
	3.3.3	From our work to date and conversations thus far with our Transformation Partner, is clear that any plan will have to achieve two things:
	3.3.4	The Council has drafted a savings programme – bringing together all work done over the last few years and existing activity.  The programme comprises various elements:
	3.3.5	From here on, the Council’s Finance workgroup group (comprising Cabinet and CLT) will be closely monitoring the status of the programme and will provide periodic updates to all Members.  We are also developing our governance arrangements for the Transformation work which will involve keeping Members abreast of what is happening.

	3.4	Corporate behaviours
	3.4.1	The endorsement of a Strategy and Plan must be accompanied by commensurate decision-making and other behaviours.  Failure to do so could compromise what the Council is trying to achieve.
	3.4.2	To this end, Council Members are asked to:
	3.4.3	It is imperative that we create a working environment where can deliver the change necessary whilst delivering our usual work.  Actions taken to support our overall ambition such as deferring expenditure or not recruiting to posts may have a short term impact that are difficult for Members and staff to absorb but we cannot achieve financial sustainability without managing some challenges.

	3.5	What-If and contingencies
	3.5.1	Everyone is aware that our financial position is fraught with risk and that the MTFP could change quickly leaving us with a much bigger (or smaller gap).  There are some inevitable questions that arises – what will we do if variables change and make the position worse?
	3.5.2	In one way, this question is easy to answer.  Short term, we will identify whether there are things we can do quickly to buy time e.g.  freeze posts, stop expenditure.  Medium term, we will continue to take action to move as close as possible to an affordable service offer (as per the comment in 3.3.4b) and put proposals to Members to that effect.
	3.5.3	The Council can do no more that identify all of the possible options available to it.  An increasing gap does not mean more opportunities become available, it simply means we have to pursue options that may feel like the ‘last resort’ as explained above.
	3.5.4	Conversely, if the Council was to receive more funding then the position does not change.  A substantial increase in funding, say 20%, would still leave a sizeable gap.  Substantial savings would still be required and progressing all options may give choices that a lower level of funding may not.


	4	CONSULTATION
	4.1	The Council is not required to consult on this matter.

	5	ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS
	5.1	The Council has a choice to reject, approve or modify the proposed strategy.  Extending the period for balancing the budget with reserves is not considered advisable.

	6	FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
	6.1	The implications associated with this Strategy are set out in Section 3.2.5 and 3.2.6.

	7	LEGAL AND GOVERNANCE CONSIDERATIONS
	7.1	The Council has a duty to balance the budget.  Not being able to balance the budget has more serious consequences for local authorities than the public may realise because for a local authority avoiding a deficit is a legal requirement under the Local Government Finance Act.
	7.2	What is meant by ‘balanced’ requires s151 Officers to use their professional judgement and interpretation. The Director for Resources supports the CIPFA definition. For local government, at its very simplest, a balanced budget means that the council is content that the combination of income, the sensible use of reserves and having robust savings plans in place means that underlying income will cover on-going costs and future commitments in a sustainable and manageable way.
	7.3	The Director for Resources believes that the proposed strategy meets this requirement for now.
	7.4	The provisional inclusion of savings in the Savings Programme does not circumvent the need for savings to be approved (or consultation to take place) in due course through budget setting and other financial decision making.

	8	DATA PROTECTION IMPLICATIONS
	8.1	A Data Protection Impact Assessments (DPIA) has not been completed because there are no risks/issues to the rights and freedoms of natural persons.

	9	EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT
	9.1	An Equality Impact Assessment has not been completed because there are no service, policy or organisational changes being proposed.

	10	COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
	10.1	There are no community safety implications arising from this report.

	11	HEALTH AND WELLBEING IMPLICATIONS
	11.1	There are no health and wellbeing implications arising from this report.

	12	CONCLUSION AND SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS
	12.1	The Council has a duty to produce a balanced budget and this Strategy explains how that will be achieved

	13	BACKGROUND PAPERS
	13.1	There are no background papers.

	14	APPENDICES


	10c WASTE AND STREETSCENE SERVICES (INCLUDING WASTE COLLECTION AND DISPOSAL) - CONTRACT OPTIONS
	Report No.170.2022 - Waste and Streetscene Services - Contract Options
	Report No.170.2022 -  Appendix A
	Report No.170.2022 - Appendix B

	15 APPOINTMENT OF INDEPENDENT PERSON
	1	PURPOSE OF THE REPORT
	1.1	To recommend to Council that the recommended individual is appointed as an Independent Person for Rutland County Council.

	2	BACKGROUND AND MAIN CONSIDERATIONS
	2.1	The Localism Act 2011 requires a relevant authority to make provision for the appointment of at least one Independent Person, whose views are sought, and taken into account, by the authority, before it makes a decision on a complaint regarding the conduct of members of the County Council or any of the parish councils within Rutland.
	2.2	The Independent Person assists the Council in promoting and maintaining high standards of conduct amongst its elected and co-opted members and town and parish Councillors.
	2.3	Mr Gordon Grimes was appointed by Council as an Independent Member in April 2014.  His most recent appointment has expired.
	2.4	A recruitment exercise to appoint Independent Persons was undertaken in August 2022 by the Monitoring Officer.  Mr Grimes was one of the applicants and was interviewed on 1st September 2022 by the Monitoring Officer and Deputy Monitoring Officer.  Following the interview with Mr Grimes, it is the Monitoring Officer’s recommendation that he is appointed as an Independent Person.
	2.5	No other suitable candidates were identified in the recruitment process.

	3	CONSULTATION
	3.1	The current Chairman of the Conduct Committee, Cllr A Brown, has been consulted and is in support of the continued use of Mr Grimes as Independent Person.

	4	ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS
	4.1	The Council could make use of a panel established by neighbouring authorities.

	5	FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
	5.1	The financial implications arising from this report are minimal; the Independent Person is paid a fixed allowance of £500 per annum and may also claim expenses.

	6	LEGAL AND GOVERNANCE CONSIDERATIONS
	6.1	Section 28 of the Localism Act 2011 requires a relevant authority to make provision for the appointment of at least one Independent Person “whose views are to be sought, and taken into account, by the authority before it makes its decision on an allegation that it has decided to investigate”.

	7	DATA PROTECTION IMPLICATIONS
	7.1	A Data Protection Impact Assessments (DPIA) has not been completed because there are no risks or issues to the rights and freedoms of natural persons.

	8	EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT
	8.1	An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) was completed prior to the previous appointment of the Independent Person in 2019. No adverse impacts were identified.

	9	COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
	9.1	There are no community safety implications.

	10	HEALTH AND WELLBEING IMPLICATIONS
	10.1	There are no health and wellbeing implications.

	11	CONCLUSION AND SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS
	11.1	The relevant legislation requires the appointment of at least one Independent Person to support the Council to deliver an effective standards regime.  Mr Grimes was the only suitable candidate in an open recruitment process.

	12	BACKGROUND PAPERS
	12.1	There are no additional background papers.

	13	APPENDICES
	13.1	Appendix A (Exempt) – Application of the recommended candidate for Independent Person.

	Report No. 175.2022 Appendix A - IP Application (Exempt)

	16 POLITICAL BALANCE AND ALLOCATION OF SEATS TO POLITICAL GROUPS
	1	PURPOSE OF THE REPORT
	1.1	To request that Council approve the political balance calculation for the Council following several events to change the political makeup of the Council, agrees the number of voting places, and allocates seats to political groups on relevant committees appointed by Council.

	2	BACKGROUND AND MAIN CONSIDERATIONS
	2.1	The Council is required by Section 15 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 to review the representation of Groups on Committees at its Annual Meeting each year and as soon as practicable after an event, which alters the political balance between the Groups and to determine the allocation of seats to be filled by appointments by the Council.
	2.2	The Council set the previous political balance and allocation of seats at Annual Council on 9 May 2022 (subsequently adjusted on 4 July following the uncontested Oakham South by-election) and established the following Committees to which political proportionality applies, with 49 seats available in total.
	2.3	On 12 October 2022, Councillor A Walters left the Independents and Green Group and now sits as a non-aligned Member. Thereby requiring a review of the political balance calculations.

	3	Changes to political affliation and subseuqnt political balance and allocation of seats to groups
	3.1	Following the above change, the Political Composition of the Council and subsequent allocation of seats is set out in Table A below:
	3.2	Political balances requires that the Independents and Green Group cede two seats to non-aligned Members and in discussion with all groups it has been agreed these be from the Audit and Risk Committee and the Employment and Appeals Committee.
	3.3	The allocations set out in Appendix A shows the proposed allocation of seats to groups and appointment of non-aligned Members in line with Table A.

	4	CONSULTATION
	4.1	All Group Leaders and non-aligned Members have been consulted during the preparation of this report and Appendix A reflects these discussions.

	5	ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS
	5.1	In line with the relevant legislation, the Council must review the Political Balance and allocation of seats at its Annual Council or as soon as practicable after events to change the political balance have occurred.
	5.2	The Council could choose to adopt a Political Balance calculation not to include nonaligned Members as set out in Table B below but this is not recommended as the principle of appointing non-aligned Members to Committees has been approved by Council at every opportunity since May 2021.

	6	FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS
	6.1	There are no financial implications arising from this report.

	7	LEGAL AND GOVERNANCE CONSIDERATIONS
	7.1	The Council is required to review the representation of Political Groups at its Annual Meeting each year and as soon as practicable after an event, which alters the political balance between the Groups and to determine the allocation of seats to be filled by appointments by the Council. This is in accordance with Sections 15 to 17 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989 and Section 8 of the Local Government (Committees and Political Groups) Regulations 1990.
	7.2	The allocation of seats is required to conform to the principles of proportionality contained in sections 15 and 16 of the Local Government and Housing Act 1989.
	7.3	There is a duty to give effect to the following principles, as far as reasonably practicable, in the order shown:
	7.3.1	Not all the seats on the body are allocated to the same political group
	7.3.2	A majority of the seats on a body are allocated to a group if it comprises a majority of the total membership of the authority.
	7.3.3	Subject to 7.3.1 and 7.3.2 above, that the number of seats on ordinary committees allocated to each group bears the same proportion to the total of all seats on ordinary committees as is borne by the number of members of that group to the total membership of the authority.
	7.3.4	Subject to 7.3.1 to 7.3.3 above, that the number of seats on a body allocated to each group bears the same proportion to the number of seats on that body as is borne by the number of members of that group to the total membership of the authority.
	7.3.5	For political balance, a group is required to have at least two members in order to be formally constituted as a political group.

	7.4	Legislation and Procedure Rule 17 require the allocation of seats strictly in accordance with political group membership at the time. This means that nonaligned members do not automatically qualify. However, provided no member of the Council votes against any proposed arrangement that departs from strict proportionality, seats can be allocated to non-aligned members as recommended in the Report.

	8	DATA PROTECTION IMPLICATIONS
	8.1	A Data Protection Impact Assessments (DPIA) has not been completed as no personal data has been processed in the preparation of the report.

	9	EQUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT
	9.1	An Equality Impact Assessment (EqIA) has not been completed because there are no service, policy or organisational changes being proposed.

	10	COMMUNITY SAFETY IMPLICATIONS
	10.1	There are no community safety implications arising from the report.

	11	HEALTH AND WELLBEING IMPLICATIONS
	11.1	There are no health or wellbeing implications arising from the report.

	12	ORGANISATIONAL IMPLICATIONS
	12.1	There are no organisational implications arising from the report.

	13	CONCLUSION AND SUMMARY OF REASONS FOR THE RECOMMENDATIONS
	13.1	The report sets out changes that have affected the political composition of the Council and a new Political Balance calculation to reflect this, and the subsequent nominations of Political Groups to match this calculation.
	13.2	The Council is recommended to agree the Political Balance and allocation of Committee seats to Political Groups as set out in Appendix A in order to satisfy legislative requirements and ensure that Committee seats are filled.

	14	BACKGROUND PAPERS
	14.1	Report No. 90/2022 and Appendices - Political Balance and Allocation of Seats to Political Groups. Considered by Annual Council on 9 May 2022.
	14.2	Report No. 124/2022 and Appendices - Political Balance and Allocation of Seats to Political Groups. Considered by Council on 4 July 2022.

	15	APPENDICES
	15.1	Appendix A - Committee Allocations to Political Groups and Membership as informed by Group Leaders at time of publication.

	Report No. 176.2022 - Appendix A


